FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2016 MAY 31 AM 9:02

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY  DEPUTY

46094-7-II

COURT OF APPEALS

DIVISION II

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOHN J. HADALLER

An individual, Appellant (plaintiff)

V

.MAYFIELD COVE ESTATES HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, a Washington non-profit corporation, DAVID A. and SHERREY LOWE, individually and the marital community thereof; RANDY FUCHS An individual; CLIFFORD and SHEILAH SCHLOSSER, individually and the marital community thereof : and MAURICE and CHERYL C. GREER, individually and the marital community thereof

Respondents (defendants)

APPELLANTS OPENING BRIEF

John J. Hadaller

135 Virginia Lee Lane

Mossyrock, Wa. 98564

INTRODUCTION

This review focuses on a Washington homeowner association member's right to a homestead and timely notice to involuntarily sacrifice it. It is a first impression review of a 1988 amendment to RCW 6.13.080(6)¹ and notice and lien priority.

Secondarily; it compares this case to *Mahler v. Szucs* 135 Wn.2d 398 in regards to adequacy of a record of how much attorney fees were awarded to whom and for what.

Third its an appeal to this Court to "do the right thing" under RAP2.5(c)(2) to prevent the statute of frauds from creating a fraud by remanding for a trial on whether Randy Fuchs' signature on a contract is genuine or he perjured it. That created fraud which has cost John J. Hadaller (Hadaller) over \$800,000 and unjustly enriches Fuchs and Lowe.

The facts stated below show the underlying case and the five other related State Court cases, plus one Bankruptcy that began in 2006 are a legal war over who gets to develop land on Lake Mayfield in Lewis County. The ultimate benefits of this are worth in the millions of dollars and were originally in Hadaller's ownership and control for his retirement plan and home. In March

¹ At the time it was paragraph (5)

2016 he was ejected from his \$590,000 home, resulting from Fuchs perjury forwarded by Lowe.

Two trials, numerous summary judgments and appeals were held in the seven cases briefed here in introduction (not counting appeals) were all forced, by unethical attorney, David A. Lowe (Lowe), representing his personal interests, while disguised as a homeowners association, in order to obtain the development rights. He now owns Hadaller's assets. But what are Hadaller's homestead rights?? Though the facts wander through several appealable issues the opportunity for an appeal on the merits appears to have passed due to inability to finance them timely.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

1. The Trial Court erred in disregarding the intent and effect of the notice provision in RCW 6.13.080(6)

(a) To collect HOA assessment liens, RCW 6.13.080 was recently amended against the homestead of HOA members who "acquired title" subject to the HOA lien. The law plainly states in order to obtain that right, within 30 days of learning of a new member, the HOA **must** notify a member by mail their homestead is subordinate to the assessment lien. Failure to give the notice specified in this subsection affects an association's lien only for debts accrued up to the time an association complies with the notice provisions under this subsection. This HOA finally

complied with the required notice to Hadaller four years after incorporating and imposing their new government over his existing home and over 18 months after obtaining the judgment Did that late notice comply with the statute to void Hadaller's homestead?And also

(b) The Trial Court passed to this Court for law on finding whether Hadaller's homestead was subordinate to the HOA lien. The CCR lien of the new special assessment is subordinate to Hadaller's homestead.

A lien for a deed restriction created subsequent to establishment of a homestead is subordinate to the homestead. Hadaller established his homestead in 2005. In 2007 he subordinated it to maintenance CCR's for assessments for road, water system dock maintenance and special assessments exclusively only for capital improvements for only those facilities. Lowe and Fuchs created a homeowners association (HOA) in 2008 against Hadaller's objection, they caused adoption of a new set of CCR's that allows for unlimited special assessments which they used to obtain a large judgment. Shouldn't Hadaller's homestead be superior to that lien?

2. The cost bill, findings of fact and conclusion of law seriously fail to conform to the holdings set by *Mahler V. Szucs* 135 Wn.2d 398:

In *Mahler* the Supreme Court set precedence that requires the trial courts to enter findings and a cost bill that reviewing courts

can easily determine which costs were awarded for what and their basis and to whom. The Courts oral findings after trial, the Cost Bill , The entered Findings and Conclusions and Judgment are not itemized nor correlate per rule and that precedence. The bankruptcy court could not decipher them, nor can Hadaller. Did the Trial court err when it entered these non itemized accountings?

3. This Court should use the provisions of RAP 2.5(c) (2) to get itself out of the position of causing the statute of frauds to aid and abet a \$800,000 fraud scam.

In the interest of justice, RAP 2.5 (c)(2) provides this Court authority to review the February 28,2012 decision in previous co appeal case No.404265 , which held even if Randy Fuchs' signature on a covenant could be proven the mere fact it was not acknowledged would still void the 2006 Amended Covenant under the statute of frauds. The results of that resulted in fraud and an \$800,000 unjust enrichment to Fuchs and Lowe at Hadaller's expense. He is now next to homeless at age 64. In these cases the statute of frauds obviously created a fraud. Should Fuchs' and Lowes's continuing fraud be prevented by remanding for trial on the merits of the issue with a ruling from this court holding; If the signature can be proven the lack of acknowledgment does not support a statute of frauds defense that avoids the validity of the 2006 amended covenants ?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This begins when Appellant John J. Hadaller

(Hadaller) bought two of three six acre plots of land (segregation survey lots 1 and 3) and obtained a first right of refusal to the third (segregation survey lot 2)², in January 2002, from the Fortman Trust (Fortman). Shortly thereafter it was rezoned to allow for ½ acre lots. Although the land fronts approximately 1,100 feet on Mayfield Lake, in Lewis County, only about 300 feet of it is not a high(80'+-) virtual cliff to the water. Hadaller chose the parcel that contained that 300 feet of lower bank that is practical to access to a dock and nearest to an area where a very nice swim beach exists to ultimately build his home which his homestead is part of.

But before moving on to that parcel in 2005³, he first moved onto segregation lot 1 in May 2002 and short platted it into four lots . He recorded CCR's to maintain the road, water system and provide for dock maintenance. He recorded that first plat in September 2003⁴. He sold lot 1 (101 Virginia Lee Lane) to Clifford and Sheliah Schlosser (Schlosser) in October 2003⁵. He sold lot 2 (105 Virginia Lee Lane) to Maurice and Cheryl Greer (Greer) in

² CP323 ¶1 Ex 3

³ EX 17 Pg12 Ex 40 (Note date and address)

⁴ CP 323 ¶2 & Ex 4 & the relative CCR's were rerecorded in 2007 on a second plat and in the record at EX 12 see Pg 4

⁵ CP 324 ¶7

July 2004⁶.

Hadaller lived on what became lot 3 (106 Virginia Lee Lane) from May 2002 until he moved to what became his present homestead land, in January 2005, which was and still is 135 Virginia Lee Lane⁷ living there from January 2005⁸ until the Sheriff ejected him in March 2016. It is part of segregation lot 3.

Back to the first plat, Hadaller retained lot 4 (104 Virginia Lee Lane) improving it with a residence and leasing it to Dean and Pam Rockwood⁹ (Rockwood) Hadaller structured it that way and retained fee title to the lot at the time because the lot contained most of the first 100 feet of the road, he built, that accesses the plats and crosses segregation lot 2. After Hadaller was successful in platting, Fortman reneged on selling segregation lot 2 for the agreed price and was shopping around for as much as he could get in years 2003-2008, Hadaller had a right to match any price. The agreed price of \$66,333 in 2002 ballooned to \$250,000 when it sold to Lowe with Hadaller's improvements in 2008¹⁰. Fortman's Segregation lot 2 did not reserve an easement that allowed for subdivision. Only Hadaller had the right to add it to his road, which was part of the original sale structure in 2002. The reserved

⁶ CP 324 ¶8

⁷ Ex 40 note address and date

⁸ Ex 40 Ex17

⁹ CP325 ¶12 CP 402

¹⁰ CP 326 ¶16

easement to Segregation lot 2 and 3's would only support a single family homesite, by code. It burdened the Schlosser's and Greer's prime building sites and Hadaller orally promised the Schlosser's and Greer's he would move it when he purchased segregation lot 2 and that agreement became consideration for and part of a written covenant that amended the CCR's in 2006¹¹.

In September 2005 Hadaller sold lot 3 of the first plat (106 V.L) to land developer Randy Fuchs¹², which was done only under an agreement to Amend the CCR's to protect Hadaller's developers' interest¹³. The amendment was recorded in August 2006¹⁴ (Commonly known as the 2006 Amended Covenants),

A year later, after Hadaller built the roads and utilities¹⁵, Fuchs attempted to overtake Hadaller's development rights by offering to buy segregation lot 2 from Fortman for \$200,000. Once Fuchs discovered the easement restrictions the lot was clouded with, he quit the sale. Fortman refused a purchase offer from Hadaller. Instead Fuchs bought a five acre sub-dividable parcel contiguous on the east site of Mayfield Cove Estates subdivision .

January 2005 Hadaller moved his residence

¹¹ Ex 12 Pg 11-13

¹² CP 324 ¶9

¹³ CP 649 -652 Cp 646-648

¹⁴ Ex 12 pg. 11-13

¹⁵ CP 326 ¶16

(homestead) on to segregation survey lot 3 which became 135

Virginia Lee Lane Mossyrock Wa¹⁶.

Two years after moving his homestead onto segregation lot 3, Hadaller recorded his second short plat and relative CCR's in April and May 2007¹⁷. He created four lots retaining the 3.42 acres which held his home and contains the only usable lake front in the area and is known as lot 4 of short plat 05-00017 and 135 Virginia Lee lane. That 3.42 acres provided for platting off 2 more waterfront lots with dock rights after May 17, 2012. The plat also recorded three other ½ acre lots in May 2007.

In early October 2007 David Lowe called Hadaller out of the blue. He had no advertising of the lots for sale. David Lowe came and bought all three ½ acre lots that day in a matter of hours of discussion with a substantial real estate contract¹⁸. An appearance of friendship was portrayed by Lowe over the winter of 2007 and 2008.

In May 2008 The Lowes (mis)represented an arrangement with Hadaller to get him to not enjoin the sale when they bought segregation survey lot 2 from Fortman. When they reneged on the plan, that got Hadaller to not exercise his right of refusal, Hadaller

¹⁶ Ex 40 (note date and address) Cp 323 ¶1

¹⁷ Ex 12 Ex 6 and 5 (Exhibit 5 and 6 were filed backwards of their description)

¹⁸ [CP 325 ¶11] [CP 325- 326 ¶14] [CP 245 ¶93] [CP 346¶95]

became protective of the use of road and utilities he built across it to serve twelve home sites worth potentially \$750,000. Hadaller relied entirely on the 2006 Amended Covenant to protect his investments into the roads and utilities.¹⁹

Without notice to Hadaller in the summer of 2008, Lowe secretly orchestrated drafting and filing new by-laws and articles of incorporation, to incorporate a HOA, filing them with the secretary of State on September 3, 2008²⁰.

The first notice to Hadaller of Lowes actions was a December 12, 2008 letter Lowe sent to Hadaller of a pending meeting to install that newly incorporated HOA, Lowe and Fuchs created to govern the subdivisions. That meeting was held on December 30, 2008. It was attended by Lowe, Fuchs, Schlosser, and Hadaller which is all of the owners but the Greer's, they voted in proxy. All but Hadaller voted to adopt the articles of incorporation and by-laws, officially creating and incorporating the HOA for the first time.²¹ Offices were officially established for the first time and elected. Voting; David Lowe as president, Randy Fuchs as secretary, Cheryl Greer as treasurer, Clifford Schlosser and Maury Greer were voted as board members. Hadaller opposed

¹⁹ CP 326 ¶16

²⁰ [Ex 19 Pg 1]

²¹ [CP 325 ¶ 14] [Ex 19]

it all²². The new officers traded the easement to Lowes segregation lot 2 off of Schlosser's and Greer's waterfront portion of their lots and placed it on Virginia Lee Lane, recording it that day.²³

Hadaller cited the provision which was amended to the original CCR's in August 2006 that identified that only Hadaller had the authority to add lot 2 of survey to the roads he had built and placed utilities upon to serve 12 homesites at his expense prevented their action. The 2006 amend covenants also stated that any amendment to the CCR's had to be approved by him until he had sold his lots.²⁴

The HOA made NO actual notice to Hadaller, or even constructively, per RCW 6.13.080 (6) of its right to void his homestead until December 26, 2012, one and a half years after obtaining the judgments being foreclosed upon.²⁵

That December 30, 2008²⁶ easement ran across the portion of the road that crossed Hadaller's lot 4 while he still owned it. No agreement with Hadaller occurred on that. Lowe unilaterally recorded the easement on Hadaller's land. Hadaller strongly

²² [Ex 19]

²³ CP 326-329 [Ex 19] CP

²⁴ Ex 19 CP 286 ¶3.11 CP 289

²⁵ CP 411 last paragraph

²⁶ Ex 22 Ex 28 CP 327¶18

opposed Lowe's brazen act(s) . Hadaller owned that road until August 13, 2010²⁷. That action was the beginning cause and main part of this quiet title "frivolous ?" suit which began in January 2009.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE(S)

Hadaller refused to turnover the original road and water system management documents. Relying on the provisions of the 2006 Amended Covenant which he recorded to protect his investments in the plats. The HOA, filed a show cause hearing, creating co-pending case 09-2-00052-1, against Hadaller to obtain the original documents. In support of the show cause motion Randy Fuchs filed a declaration falsely stating Hadaller forged Fuchs' signature to the 2006 Amended Covenant²⁸. Hadaller submitted declarations from two eyewitnesses that personally watched Fuchs sign the document²⁹. Hadaller counterclaimed for quiet title to challenge the easement trades and declaratory judgment of the 2006 Amended Covenant. At the show cause hearing the HOA argued that Hadaller's CCR's were deficient in the way they were not supported by articles of incorporation, identification of officers or means of electing officers. They

²⁷ CP 328 ¶22

²⁸ CP 626-630

²⁹ Cp 646- 652

argued that Hadaller in essence had not set up a valid homeowners association and the other owners desired to have by-laws defining the means of electing officers and managing a valid homeowners association.³⁰ They argued the CCR's were an interim deficient set of CCR's at best. The Court agreed with the HOA, found the new HOA was duly formed and in power and ordered Hadaller to turn over the original documents³¹.

Hadaller quickly arranged (risking contempt) to have the 2006 amended covenant examined then filed a report by a forensic document examiner confirming Fuchs' signature to be genuine³².

On April 3, 2009 the Court dismissed Hadaller's counterclaims from the HOA suit for these quiet title issues without prejudice so they could be filed in what became this suit³³

In May 2009 Lowe drafted a complaint for a breach of contract and prosecuted a suit against Hadaller in behalf of Dean and Pam Rockwood, Hadaller's renters on lot 4 of the first plat³⁴.

On June 26, 2009 this suit was filed for declaratory judgment/quiet title asking the Court to confirm the 2006 amended covenants prevented anyone but Hadaller the right to add

³⁰ RP 01/29/2009 Pg 5 L. 12 – Pg 14 L. 21

³¹ RP 01/29/2009 Pg 45 L. 15 – Pg 46 L. 18

³² CP 631-652

³³ CP126 L. 6- Cp 127 L10

³⁴ [CP 325 ¶12] [CP 345¶93] [CP 346¶95] [CP 347¶98]

additional property to the roads he had built. Also to void the easement to segregation lot 2, (it was amended in 2010 to include confirmation of an easement across the Schlosser's and Greer's lot to benefit Hadaller's segregation survey lot 3³⁵)

Because the issue of the validity of the 2006 Amended Covenant was ambushed and voided by surprise at a previous trial in co-pending Cause No. 09-2-00052-1³⁶ and was on appeal. Hadaller attempted to dismiss the HOA in September 2010³⁷.

In November 2010 the "Association" amended their answer and counterclaims, which still included claims for Hadaller to :

(a) Pay to place an electric meter on the pump house for water system #2, (which had already been concluded in co-pending 09-2-00052-1 case and was dismissed once they got the HOA into the April-May 2010 trial in this case³⁸)

(c) Collection of fine and penalty for Hadaller storing an old mobile home (which existed before any lots were platted and not within view of the roads as the original CCR's require, Lowe had his new CCR's amended to not within view of another lot and

³⁵ Ex 19 CP 286 ¶3.11 CP 289

³⁶ RP 12/10/2009 Vol 2 Pg 65 L. 19-24

³⁷ CP 443 -449

³⁸ CP 359 (b)

sued from that , The court found no basis for fine or penalty³⁹) A reading of the findings and conclusions and cost bill neither confirms or denies whether the HOA attorney obtained fees for that issue from costs or identify if any time was billed to the lost claim, in their compilation of attorney fees. None was awarded by the court on this issue nor was any fine or penalties awarded for this⁴⁰.

End of HOA issue... The HOA was only granted judgment in their favor for non payment of the “special assessments” to sue and defend from Hadaller.

Lowe argues he is acting on behalf of the HOA, but it is his own private segregation lot 2 that is benefitted with that free easement which Hadaller paid to build and includes a county approved roadway and utilities in place at Hadaller’s expense supporting development of 12 homes.⁴¹ The lake access the lots are worth \$750,000 which Hadaller was expecting to have the benefit of when he built those roads under the first right of refusal and standing of 2006 Amended Covenant.⁴²

The Schlosser and Greer’s (private) parties counter

³⁹ [RP 05/10/2011 Pg 21 L.3Pg 22 L.13] [CP234 .L. 3 –CP 235 L. 13]

⁴⁰ [CP 234 L. 3- Pg 235 L13] [RP 05/10/2011 Pg 21?3-Pg 22 13]

⁴¹ Ex 22 Ex 28 CP 327¶18 CP 326-327 ¶16 CP 361 ¶7

⁴² [RP 05/10/2011 Pg 33 L.11-Pg 35 L.5] and/or [CP246L.11-CP 248 L.5]

claimed for misrepresentation, by Hadaller on their south side easement description, They defended against Hadaller's claim that he reserved an easement across their south side, which is not maintained by the CCR's.⁴³ Almost all of the pretrial motions and trial was devoted to this issue. The court found fees based on Schlosser's REK⁴⁴ (RCW 4.84.185 and CR 11. The Cost Bill⁴⁵ and Findings⁴⁶ and Conclusions⁴⁷ state most of the fees were for that.

Private party Lowes counter-claimed that Hadaller had breach a contract to timely build a dock. The court found Hadaller was not even obligated by contract.⁴⁸ Were fees awarded for this?? Who knows, The court did answer one question on December 19, 2014 when Hadaller attempted to have the Court account for the fees.⁴⁹

⁴³ CP 332 ¶38-CP341 ¶65 stated as Ex 5 but filed as exhibit 6 see map in Ex 6) (Filed backwards)(note of easement on south side of map No. 3280378) CP 290 (reservation of the easement) see MKKI v. Kruger 135 Wa. App.647 how frivolous was that claim???

⁴⁴ Hadaller had sold only the receivables of the contracts first half and pled an interest in whether Schlosser could encumber it with another easement. The Court found Hadaller did not have an ownership sufficient interest to object to the easement, thence later granted foreclosure upon that same (\$56,000)receivable in supplemental proceedings against Hadaller's objection, which Lowe bid on and recieved for \$7,000 of the "judgment money". Seems if Hadaller did not own a right to object to the easement, thence the attorney fees clause of the contract also merged into the deed when it was sold. That leaves only the frivolous statutes for attorney fees. Regardless its mute except for issues of equity in this decision.

⁴⁵ CP 297 -321

⁴⁶ CP 351- 359

⁴⁷ CP 367369

⁴⁸ CP 238L.21-CP 239 L.3 RP 05/10/2011 Pg 25 L.21-Pg 26 L.3

⁴⁹ RP 12/19/2014 Pg 13 L23- Pg 21.L 18

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