FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II
2016 AUG - 8 PM 12:04
STATE OF WASHINGTON
BY _____
DEPUTY

No. 46094-7-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

JOHN J. HADALLER, an individual.

Appellant,

v.

MAYFIELD COVE ESTATES HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, a
Washington non-profit corporation; DAVID A. & SHERRY L. LOWE;
RANDY FUCHS; CLIFFORD L. & SHEILAH L. SCHLOSSER; and
MAURICE L. & CHERYL C. GREER,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

APPEAL FROM LEWIS COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CASE
NO. 9-2-934-0, THE HONORABLE JUDGE RICHARD L. BROSEY

David A. Lowe, WSBA No. 24.453
LOWE GRAHAM JONES^{PLLC}
701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4800
Seattle, WA 98104
Lowe@LoweGrahamJones.com
T: 206.381.3300

I. INTRODUCTION

Appellant John J. Hadaller (“Hadaller”) has a long history of false statements, abusing the judicial process, delay and obfuscation. (Ex. 67, p. 10) Contrary to his representation to this Court, Hadaller has been the litigation instigator—not the victim—in repeated, frivolous lawsuits over the last eight years against Respondent Mayfield Cove Estates Homeowners Association (“the Association”), consisting of his former neighbors and fellow homeowner association members. (CP 354-57) Hadaller has been responsible for five lawsuits and a dozen appellate proceedings leading to this, his last and hopefully final appeal. He has been found “intransigent” (Ex. 67, p. 21) by the trial court, sanctioned multiple times and repeatedly held in contempt of court (Ex. 16, pp. 25-27) (affirmed on appeal), leading the trial court to label his actions “legalized terrorism” (CP 356) and to enjoin him from bringing further lawsuits absent leave of court. Hadaller is a pariah to the neighborhood, homeowner association members and now to the good people of Lewis County and the state who must deal with his continued baseless litigation tactics.

Hadaller’s latest appeal is more of the same. Hadaller spends the *majority of his 50-page brief regurgitating his view of the five lawsuits, two bench trials and dozens of motions together with appeals—all of which he lost after full and fair opportunity to present his case.* Hadaller engages in

unprofessional name-calling and dilatory actions.¹ Yet virtually all of it is irrelevant.

Hadaller is improperly attempting to reopen and relitigate proceeding pertaining to multiple hearings, trials and appeals that are finally concluded. The June 10, 2011 Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment in this case (CP 322-370) is final and all appellate review was terminated by this Court per the March 14, 2012 mandate entered in Case No. 41818-5-II. Likewise, the December 30, 2009 Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment in Case No. 09-2-52-1 between the Association and Hadaller (Ex. 13) is final and all appellate review was terminated by this Court per the December 11, 2012 mandate entered in Case No. 40426-5-II. Accordingly, the papers filed, trial transcripts and exhibits and oral arguments leading up to the findings, conclusion and judgment in these cases are wholly irrelevant to these proceeding.

Hadaller has failed to establish that the trial court abused its discretion. Accordingly, the Association respectfully urges the Court to

¹ The Association does not dignify Hadaller's repeated baseless *ad hominem* attacks against it and its counsel, other than to state for the record that none of Hadaller's attacks or factual assertions are justified or correct whatsoever. In particular, Hadaller accuses Respondents and their counsel of "fraud" and "unethical" behavior without any factual or legal basis, let alone any understanding of the gravity of the accusations. Hadaller's unsubstantiated accusations go beyond a mere lack of civility to violate CR 11, and should be severely sanctioned.

confirm the trial court's actions, and further to award the Association its attorney's fees and costs on appeal, as provided for by RAP 18.1.²

II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The sole issue on appeal is whether the trial court followed proper procedure or abused its discretion in:

- (a) issuing the February 28, 2014 Decree of Foreclosure and Order of Sale;
- (b) *denying* in its December 5, 2014 Order (after the bankruptcy action was resolved) Hadaller's *third* motion for reconsideration of the Decree (the trial court having twice previously denied Hadaller's identical motions for reconsideration); and
- (c) ordering an award of supplemental attorney's fees and costs associated with the foreclosure proceeding in favor of the Association on December 19, 2014.

Pertaining to this issue Hadaller assigns the following two errors:

1. The trial court "disregarded the intent and effect of the notice provision in RCW 6.13.080(6) in degradation of Hadaller's homestead rights in two ways. (a) by misreading the statute in finding that the Association properly met the notice provision prior to foreclosure; and (b) by refusing to find Hadaller's homestead rights superior to the Association's CCR lien.
2. The trial court improperly ascribed the award of attorney's fees and costs forming the CCR lien to the Association rather than to other parties.

² The Association further objects to Hadaller's inclusion of materials attached to his brief, ostensible as an "Appendix," in contravention of RAP 10.3(a)(8), as the appended materials were not included in the record on review.

Neither ruling by the trial court was in error; to the contrary, the trial court properly applied the law and facts in issuing the Decree, denying thrice Hadaller's motions for reconsideration and ordering supplemental attorney's fees and costs associated with the foreclosure proceeding. In fact, as explained below, Hadaller is forced to torture the plain language of the statute and ignore the trial court's well-reasoned, final and nonappealable underlying findings, conclusions and judgment to even articulate the two errors.

Hadaller separately urges the Court to reopen *Mayfield Cove Estates Homeowners Association v Hadaller*, Cause No. 09-2-52-1, affirmed on appeal February 28, 2012 in Case No. 404265. This case related, in part, to Hadaller's claimed "Amended Covenants" document. Specifically, Hadaller urges the Court to reverse the findings of fact, conclusions of law and judgment following trial and affirmation on appeal, apparently because he still does not like the outcome of the case. There is no basis under law or equity for this Court to do so.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In or about 2003, Hadaller created the unincorporated Mayfield Cover Estates Homeowners Association and prepared Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions, Road Maintenance Agreement, Water System ("CCR") for the Association Properties. Hadaller recorded these CCRs against all Association Properties on or about August 8, 2003 under Auditor's File No. 3174355. (Ex. 4) He specifically established the

Mayfield Cove Estates Homeowners Association at that time. While it was unincorporated until the other Association members incorporated it in September 2008, it was still a legal entity, created by Hadaller, governing the Association Properties. This was confirmed by the trial court (and affirmed on appeal) in Case No. 09-2-52-1, has been affirmed on appeal and is not subject to further appellate review. (Ex. 13, ¶¶ 2, 12-17, 25-28)³

With respect to the Association Properties, the CCRs Hadaller prepared and recorded in 2003 specifically included Segregation Survey Lot 3, Assessor's Tax Parcel No. 28767-001-005, (id., pp. 1, 11 & Ex. A) which is the property Hadaller admits he moved onto in January 2005 to establish his homestead. As further confirmed by the Statutory Warranty Deed (Fulfillment) recorded August 20, 2002 under Auditor's File No. 3145909 (Ex. 1), this was property Hadaller owned prior to and at the time he recording the CCRs that he now admits attaches to and runs with the subject Association Property. Hadaller re-recorded the CCRs on April 13, 2007 under Auditor's File No. 3277586. (Ex. 12)

The Association was duly incorporated as a Washington nonprofit association on September 3, 2008, which action was ratified by its members

³ Hadaller's reliance on *Halme v Walsh*, 192 Wn App. 893 (2016) is misplaced. Unlike in *Halme*, Hadaller specifically intended to and in fact created a homeowners association that meets the definition of RCW 64.38.010(11). The CCRs refer specifically to Association Bylaws, provides for membership, assessments for roads, water systems, docket and other maintenance, voting rights including quorum requirements, Association officers, amendment, annexation and enforcement. The trial court specifically found that the Association that Hadaller created in 2003 was an unincorporated association, with Hadaller as its first secretary and treasurer.

as of December 30, 2008 and confirmed by the Court after trial in Case No. 09-2-52-1, which was later affirmed on appeal. (Ex. 13, ¶¶ 25-28) The Association subsequently amended the CCRs as recorded July 6, 2009 under Auditor's File No. 3329633. (Ex. 17) The amended CCRs were specifically confirmed to be valid and enforceable and to constitute the governing documents of the Association by the Court in Case No. 09-2-52-1 (Ex. 13, Conclusions ¶ 5) and again in the underlying case, both affirmed on appeal. (CP 323-325, 344)

Hadaller commenced a lawsuit against the Association and certain of its members on June 26, 2009 in the present case. Hadaller's claims were almost exclusively directed against the Association, including (1) declaratory judgment that the Association's actions, including those of certain of its officers and members, constitute a breach of the CCRs; (2) that certain actions of the Association were *ultra vires*; (3) to quiet title affecting certain Association easements; and (4) that certain actions of Association members violated the Association CCRs. (CP 287-88) In addition to defending against Hadaller's claims against the Association, the Association also asserted counterclaims against Hadaller based on Hadaller's numerous CCR violations. These violations included failure to set up the community well, failure to pay Association assessments, and willful refusal to abide by Association requirements for garbage and debris removal. (CP 477-490)

Because Hadaller's claims and the Association's counterclaims implicated the Association directly and/or against two or more members on

matters affecting the Association, and/or were on matters pertaining to prosecuting Hadaller's multiple violations of the CCRs, the Association was authorized by statute and its controlling documents and obligated by the unanimous vote of its directors and officers to "institute, defend or intervene" in the litigation. After two long years of litigation, and following seven days of bench trial, the Court entered judgment in this case in favor of the Association, including dismissing with prejudice Hadaller's claims (1) that the Association's actions, including those of certain of its officers and members, constitute a breach of the CCRs; (2) that certain actions of the Association were *ultra vires*; (3) that Association easements were improper; and (4) that certain actions of Association members violated the Association CCRs. The Court further found that, pursuant to its original and amended CCRs, as well as Association powers granted pursuant to RCW 64.38.020, the Association has the authority to collect annual and special assessments and otherwise enforce its CCRs, including for accrual of 12% interest on unpaid balances and levy of penalties, and that Hadaller violated the Association CCRs. Among others things, the Court concluded that Association assessments were not paid in full by Hadaller despite repeated written and verbal reminders, and accordingly entered judgment in favor of the Association in the amount of unpaid assessments, interest and fees. (CP 322-70, 514-17)

The trial court concluded that nine out of the ten claims for which attorney's fees were awarded implicated the Association directly and/or

were against two or more members on matters affecting the Association, its easements and the legal plats defining its limits and common areas:

Specifically, attorney's fees should be awarded for the following claims: (1) that the actions of the individual Defendants were *ultra vires* (dismissed on summary judgment); (2) that the Association grant of easement to Segregation Lot 2 was *ultra vires*; (3) that the individual Defendants breached the "Amended Covenants" document (dismissed on summary judgment); (4) that that individual Defendants did not have authority to grant of easements across their property to Segregation Lot 2; (5) that the individual Defendants breached the short plats (dismissed on summary judgment); (6) that the Lowes' lacked authority to relinquish easements rights they had across the Schlossers' and the Greers' properties; (7) that Hadaller has an easement along the southern part of Segregation Lots 1 and 2 in favor of Segregation Lot 3; (8) that Randy Fuchs trespassed in the placement of a fence on his own property; (9) violation of the Association CCRs; and (10) fraudulent transfer of the Lowe-Hadaller asset to his girlfriend Deborah Reynolds. (CP 358-59)

The sole individual claim not implicating the Association for which attorney's fees were awarded was relatively minor:

The vast majority of attorney's fees incurred were directly related to researching, responding to and defending Hadaller's claims against the Association, the Schlossers, the Greers, Randy Fuchs, the Rockwoods and the Lowes related to his claim that the easements granted along the Association roadways or individual's property were unauthorized or that there existed an easement in favor of Segregation Lot 3 along the south of Segregation Lots 1 and 2. (CP 353)

As a matter of law, the trial court held that these claims were “intertwined and inseparable,” and the principal judgment, costs and attorney’s fees were awarded to the Association. (CP 369)

The Association sought first to recover the judgment against Hadaller via a writ of execution on Hadaller’s personal property. The levy occurred November 28, 2012 and the sale of Hadaller’s nonexempt personal property occurred January 10, 2013. Hadaller’s personal property assets were woefully inadequate to pay the judgment amount due, and Hadaller’s personal property assets were exhausted. Accordingly, anticipating foreclosure on Hadaller’s real property, the Association provided its RCW 6.13.080(6) notice on December 26, 2012. (CP 411,412; Hadaller Brief, p. 18) The Association commenced its foreclosure action more than a year later on February 18, 2014. (CP 697-707)

The issue of the validity of 2006 “Amended Covenants” documents was fully litigated in not one, but two prior trials and appellate proceedings. Following a two-day trial in *Mayfield Cove Estates Homeowners Association v Hadaller*, Case No. 09-2-52-1, the trial court issued December 30, 2009 Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment specifically holding that the “Amended Covenants” were null and void and unenforceable. (Ex. 13) This ruling was affirmed on appeal in Case No. 40426-5-II and is not subject to further appellate review. When Hadaller improperly raised this issue again in the present case, the trial court dismissed Hadaller’s claim on summary judgment (CP 654-696) and reiterated after trial that the “Amended Covenants” were null and void and

unenforceable. (CP 324-25; 514-17) Again, this ruling was affirmed on appeal in Case No. 41818-5-II and is not subject to further appellate review.

IV. AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT

The decision to issue the Decree of Foreclosure, deny thrice Hadaller's motions for reconsideration and order supplemental attorney's fees and costs associated with the foreclosure proceeding lies within the sound discretion of the trial court—one which the appellate court reviews for an abuse of discretion. *See City of Mount Vernon v. Weston*, 68 Wn. App. 411, 414, 844 P.3d 438 (1992), *review denied*, 121 Wn.2d 1024 (1993). A trial court abuses its discretion when its order is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds. *See State v. Markle*, 118 Wn.2d 424, 438, 823 P.2d 1101 (1992); *State v. Quigg*, 72 Wn. App. 828, 835, 866 P.2d 655 (1994). *Holbrook v. Weyerhaeuser Co.*, 118 Wn.2d 306, 315, 822 P.2d 271 (1992). A discretionary decision rests on "untenable grounds" or is based on "untenable reasons" if the trial court relies on unsupported facts or applies the wrong legal standard. The trial court's decision is "manifestly unreasonable" if the court, despite applying the correct legal standard to the supported facts, adopts a view that no reasonable person would take *Magama v. Hyundai Motor Am.*, 167 Wn.2d 570, 582-583, 220 P.3d 191 (2009). A "reasonable difference of opinion" does not amount to abuse of discretion. *Ermine v. City of Spokane*, 143 Wn.2d 636, 650, 23 P.3d 492 (2001); *Magama*, 167 Wn.2d at 583.

Hadaller has failed to prove that the trial court manifestly abused its discretion. To the contrary, the trial court's orders were based on sound application of law and substantial evidence. *Ridgeview Props. v. Starbuck*, 96 Wn.2d 716, 719, 638 P.2d 1231 (1982); *Keever & Assocs., Inc v. Randall*, 129 Wn. App. 733, 737, 119 P.3d 926 (2005).

A. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN APPLICATION OF RCW 6.13.080(6)

1. The trial court properly found that the notice provision of RCW 6.13.080(6) was met

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